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Peggy Jameson:
This is Peggy Jameson and Ray Ann Cramer on August the 7th 1979 working on the neighborhood and public policy project which is financed by a grant from the Tennessee Committee for the Humanities, an affiliate of the National Endowment to the Humanities.  

We are interviewing Dr. Peyton Rhodes, President Emeritus of Southwestern at Memphis.  Now, Dr. Rhodes would you just tell us about your experience coming to Memphis? When did you come?

Dr. Peyton Rhodes:
I came down here in the fall of 1926 with an interesting young man 
[0:01:00]
I met on the train who died recently, Charles Ron, the Chancellor of one of the courts downtown.  He was coming as a student to Southwestern.  I was coming to teach physics.  We came together and became acquainted on one of the Memphis specials.  Everybody rode the Memphis special then.


I got in here from the mountains in a humid period and nearly died with humidity.  My wife and I were not married at that time.  We were planning to be married during the Christmas vacation when I would return to Virginia.


I found a room.  I spent the first night I remember here close to the zoo amid the wails of the animals and the guest rooms of Neely Hall.  Neely Hall was named for one of the well known Neely family of Memphis.


After I wondered whether or not I’d gone back to the tropics I 
[0:02:00]
spent a couple nights there and then began to look for a room.  I got a room with a very lovely family of people named Mr. and Mrs. Robert Smith at 1934 Snowden.  Mr. Smith was a long time and valued employee of Stratton Warren Hardware Company.  They had no children.  They were very kind to the perspiring young professor.


At Christmas having discovered pecans and filled my suitcase with them, I returned to my home is Crozet, Virginia, C-R-O-Z-E-T.  Crozet was a Frenchman for whose family the Crozet Allen’s are named at roughly south latitude 45, east longitude 45.  It’s on the 
[0:03:00]
maps and it belongs to France.  

Colonel Crozet was one of the first board members of VMI and of West Pointe and built the first railroad _______ in the United States and was a member of the board of visitors of, as I said of VMI and West Pointe.  He became a state geologist after Virginia, after he knew he could build a tunnel.


Well anyway we went back and were married on the first day of January 1927, came to Memphis.  Took our meals at the college for two years except breakfast which we cooked in the Smith’s kitchen.


Our possessions consisted of two trunks, a magazine rack, a card table, neither of us knew how to play Bridge and a few wedding 
[0:04:00]
presents.  We had been here ever since, since our happiness was broken by Alice’s death last May.  I mean May of 1978.


Southwestern was still dusty or muddy from the construction.  I better say this.  The construction must have started about ’22 or ’23 and I got here one year after the college opened.  They had opened in ’25 and started building up the physics and so forth and so on and all of that has become recorded history about the early days of the college and it’s available in these other books.

[0:05:00]
So there isn’t much to say except that I taught physics up until the war.  There’s a lot to be said about the war, but that would take hours, but there is in Burrell Library I think, a copy of the history of the 13th college training detachment-air crew.  

It was a branch of the Air Force, which was operating at Southwestern from March of – let’s see – when did we have the war.  March of ’43 I believe until June of ’44.  There’s about 16 or 18 months and the commanding officer, a very pleasant young lieutenant wrote a pretty good history of the detachment.  It is 
[0:06:00]
presumably in the Burrow Library and I think it could be discovered.
[00;06;05]
Peggy Jameson:
Would you happen to remember his name or I can just find it.

Dr. Peyton Rhodes:
Yeah; I do.  His name was Rengsdorf, R-E-N-G-S-D-O-R-F and curiously enough, I think this is true.  Some of these things are gettin’ a little fuzzy.  I think he was from the town where Southwestern College is in Kansas.  You see there are lots of Southwesterns and this was a Methodist institution in Kansas and he just happened to be from that town.

Peggy Jameson:
Well do you happen to recall any personal anecdotes of why this location was chosen or how that came about?

Dr. Peyton Rhodes:
You mean for the college?

Peggy Jameson:
For the college here.

[0:07:00]
Dr. Peyton Rhodes:
Oh gosh, it was a long struggle.  It wasn’t easy.  I’ve read about it and I’ve heard about it, but Clarksville had given $50,000.00 or somethin’ or other like that – now wait a minute.  There had always been talk before the ________ unpleasantness of the north of colleges in each Presbyterian center of the church.  


Now that was the Presbyterian Church before the division.  It had been hoped and this was rather ambitious, my continuity’s become badly disorganized.  In hope to have a church in every center, church ________.  Well that, anybody oughta had better sense than 

[0:08:00]
that, but that was the hope.


The Masons had started a college.  They wanted a college and they reached the conclusion of  the Clarksville location after a study around among the Masons.  The reason they picked Clarksville as a Masonic history of Tennessee would show – there’s one of those in the library, a Masonic history.  I don’t know the title.  


The fact that this prep school had what they called a cabinet of 
[0:09:00]
philosophical operators, meaning some physics equipment worth $6,000.00.  So that swung the choice to Clarksville.  See, I picked all this up from Dr. Deal and all this.  So the college started out as Montgomery Masonic College of the Grand Lodge of Tennessee. That’s what it starts at.  This is gonna take a couple books.  And so it started.  

Well the Masons soon found that they couldn’t afford the college despite the philosophical equipment that got thrown in in the deal and they offered it to anybody that would take it.  Come and get it.  Well there was a man named Stewart who was a prominent Mason and a Presbyterian.  I suppose he was an elder in the church.
[0:10:00]
He somehow got a little money together, probably $5,000.00 or somethin’ and the Presbyterians bit and took it over from the Masons.  That was before the war.  So they renamed it Stewart College after this man who was a nicely organized Mason and good Presbyterian.  It stayed Stewart College – oh, I used to have the date –

Peggy Jameson:
We can look those up.

Dr. Peyton Rhodes:
So it stayed that way before and during I think the war.  General Grant was so thoughtless as to stable some of his calvary in the physics building where the philosophical apparatus were.  Some of it got broke and some of it’s still here.

[00;10;56]
[0:11:00]

Ray Ann Cramer:
I hope in the museum.

Dr. Peyton Rhodes:
Dr. Taylor’s got it over there in some cases.  Well anyway that went on and the next step __________ was they had given up this one Presbyterian college in every center ________ that war broke out of.  There was some connection at one time before the war of a female Presbyterian seminary with some buildings out here around Moscow.  


There was a man named Waddell.  His one wife called him Waddell.  The next one called him Waddle, W-A-D-D-L-E and 
[0:12:00]
we’ve got around here somewhere the name that was over a door at Clarksville where Mr. Waddle’s name was perpetuated in stone.  I got it down here one time.  I don’t know where it is.  

But that man had something to do with this female academy and ended up teaching at Southwest.  That’s lost in antiquity.  I don’t think it would matter to the Evergreen Club.


But anyway, after the war the college was reorganized as Southwestern Presbyterian University after that succeeded this man, Stewart College.  It was that when in 1917 Dr. Deal was pastor of the very beautiful Presbyterian Church in Clarksville.  

[0:13:00]
Still there.  It’s gothic and beautiful beams.  

He was a young minister, having married a nice young lady from Greenville and the name Irece gets into the picture some.  You may know Irece Martin who was cashier here for – R-E-Y-S and the Ireys’ and the – she was a Miss Ireys, something like that.  It’s all mixed up somewhere.

Anyhow they call on Dr. Deal in the war – you see, that was 1917, to see if he couldn’t do something with the college.  Now he’d been to Hopkins and had had two years of physics, which most ministers _________.  You’ve got to get the physics in.  He had been to Princeton Seminary, which was of course top _______.  In 

[0:14:00]
spite of the fact – he was sort of a hybrid.  He was born in Charlestown, West Virginia so he knew of the northern church which the church had separated in 1960.


He was called on to do something with the college.  First thing he did was to eliminate the seminary which had been a part of it.  It’s the old Presbyterian Southwestern Seminary for which so many ministers graduated before the war.  That was eliminated because they didn’t have enough money to keep it up.

Peggy Jameson:
But Dr. Deal was a minister –

Dr. Peyton Rhodes:
He was a minister.

Peggy Jameson:
Before he –

Dr. Peyton Rhodes:
Oh yeah; he was a minister and a well prepared minister, a well educated minister and was a minister just accidentally in Clarksville.  Course everybody in Clarksville think they close 

[0:15:00]
buddies of the Lord.  I mean that’s worse than Clarksdale.  So anyway Dr. Deal, the college didn’t have many students.  It was goin’ down and down and down.  We had after that World War I, I think it was the Depression in 19 – there’d been lots of depressions.


So the more foreign lookin’ people in the church – that’s the Presbyterian Church U.S. began to think of getting it out of there frankly and getting it in a place that didn’t have a college, of which one was Memphis.  See, the Teachers College _________ didn’t start till 1912 and it was recognized only as a college to prepare teachers.  So it was just a normal school.

[0:16:00]
So one thing led to another.  There were lots of problems, suits to keep the college there.  The city had given them a little money once and they sued to get it back and succeeded.  Oh, there was a big raucous about it.  It wasn’t easy.

[00;16;17]
Peggy Jameson:
Was Dr. Deal the villain?

Dr. Peyton Rhodes:
He was the villain.  He was always the villain.  He loved a good argument and he wouldn’t give up.  He had great determination, great tenacity and tremendous ability to do somethin’ good.  He made a number of speeches down here in the late 25s and we have copies of all of those and frequently quote from them.


He was married in ’25 and you can get all the histories and – 
[0:17:00]
[Audio stops and starts] talk forever on this and might not give you what you want.
Peggy Jameson:
Well we’re enjoying this and we’ll move you onto it when –

Dr. Peyton Rhodes:
Yeah; you keep me –

Peggy Jameson:
Alright.  So they move the college here and apparently the city of Memphis made a big effort to get it.

Dr. Peyton Rhodes:
Yeah; it did and very helpful people like the Farberson’s and the Snowden’s and Mr. Burrow and Mayor –

Peggy Jameson:
Burrow – B-U –

Dr. Peyton Rhodes:
Burrow – B-U-R-R-O-W – Burrow Library.

Peggy Jameson:
Yeah.

Dr. Peyton Rhodes:
And they weren’t all Presbyterians by any means.  The Catholics and the Jews, everybody sort of combined to be helpful.  Dr. Deal was set on doin’ something that wasn’t transient and was gonna be good.  

I think he was influenced in the architecture by the fact that the [Background noise – audio starts and stops]  -- Harkness 
[0:18:00]
Quadrangle at Yale had recently been finished, which is beautiful collegiate gothic.  I think that was finished about ’23.  I’ve seen it, but I don’t know the dates.


Then too he had heard of the man named Klauder – K-L-A-U-D-E-R, who is a very famous gothicist had he done the Wellesley tower, but _________________ was so close to Nashville it was logical to get an architect where you could go back and forth and talk to him.  See, just about 40 miles.


So Mr. Hibbs, Mr. – uh, ______________ and associates –

Peggy Jameson:
H-I-B-B-S?

Dr. Peyton Rhodes:
Yeah.  He got them as the main architects, but Klauder as the 
[0:19:00]
associate and got a Memphis engineering firm.  You know Warner Howard?
Peggy Jameson:
Yeah.

Dr. Peyton Rhodes:
His father.  His father and he was at that time associated with Ferbringer.  You remember that name?

Peggy Jameson:
Sure.

Dr. Peyton Rhodes:
Well they were the engineers.  So that’s what it’s – and Mr. Hibbs and his architectural people got a citation from the IA folks for the grand plan they drew up  ______________.  Mr. Hibbs had associated with them two young men.  Now this is all before me.

Peggy Jameson:
Yeah; right.

Dr. Peyton Rhodes:
One of ‘em married his daughter which was always appropriate.  James Watson married the rich man’s daughter so they’d have enough money to experiment on the steam engine.


Then the other young man was our continuing architect after the death of Mr. Hibbs until he died in ’68 just before the science center was finished.  So we had one continuous flow with nobody to mess it up.

Ray Ann Cramer:
Who was the other architect?

Peggy Jameson:
Who was the other architect after Hibbs?

Dr. Peyton Rhodes:
Wells Orson did the Cleff Hall.

Ray Ann Cramer:
Who was the continuing one though?  You said the guy –

Dr. Peyton Rhodes:
Mr. Perent, Mr. Clinton Perent.  He died while the science center was being built and he needed help on that and he got a classmate from the University of Pennsylvania School of Architect, a man named Carroll to work with him and since Perent died Carroll finished it off.  He was familiar with the plan.


Wells Orson was _______ and then there was a building built, a 
[0:21:00]
residence hall, after that – I don’t know the name of – that could be ___________________.  So we missed Perent because he was responsible for the tower.  Now don’t get me started on the tower because it takes you all night.


But anyway no additional buildings were built to the first five.  There was Palmer Hall, what we call the science building which was really designed as a chemistry building and was later reconverted when the rest of the science center was built.  

Let’s see.  Palmer, science, Neeley Hall, the refectory, a little gatehouse down there.  That’s four.  Then a combination of residence hall now named White and Robb.  Robb was a name taken over from Clarksville.  
[0:22:00]
The White was changed from Calvin.  Calvin was an old hall up at Clark _________, but if I don’t always want to help you pay for a building that you’ve already paid for, if you give enough money you’ll change the name.  The name was a perfectly good name in the Clarksville area.  That’s another story.


But anyway nothin’ was built until Voorhees, the first women residence hall.  We didn’t have any women except a handful.
[00;22;30]
Peggy Jameson:
Oh really.  There’s just a handful.

Dr. Peyton Rhodes:
Living in ours across the street.

Peggy Jameson:
Where was that now?

Dr. Peyton Rhodes:
Right across on the corner of Tutwiler and University.  Well that’s moved around lots of places.  They say there were 20 girls.  They were tucked most anywhere.  I tell you who did come, our two Mayor ________ daughters and the Protestant ______ girls –

[0:23:00]
Peggy Jameson:
The school was always co-educational, but you just didn’t have many women students.

Dr. Peyton Rhodes:
Right.  It was no stress let’s say on a co-education – actually I’m not sure this is true.  Do you know a lady that lives – it was Everett Woods’ sister?  Everett Wood the architect –

Peggy Jameson:
Oh, I knew Everett Wood and Miss Wood.

Dr. Peyton Rhodes:
Well he had a sister and I think it is reputed that she was the first woman to ever attend Southwestern because she was the daughter of either a professor or a local citizen in Clarksville.  Miss Somethin’ or other Wood.  Alice knew.  I can’t think of the name.


So that was the first building.  The next building following very closely onto that and started when that was done after World War 
[0:24:00]
II was Ellet Hall and Dr. Ellet had left his money of course to Mrs. Ellet and at her death it was divided between Suwannee and Southwestern.  With the proceeds of his estate or maybe a little less, Ellet Hall.  They were the only buildings built for a long time and the first after the war.

Peggy Jameson:
Now all of the stone – you were saying something about the stone work here and how the stone pile.  Tell us a little bit about that.

Dr. Peyton Rhodes:
The stone is this iron bearing sandstone, which is an Aluvian stone coming from the region of Ball Knob and the old state they tell me is on the _______ with it.  We bought a quarry and the first buildings they’d just blow the stuff up and they’d put them on a 
[0:25:00]
gondola freight car, bring ‘em over here and dump ‘em and then it hand work from then on.


Later on the quarry was condemned, part of it, for a highway by the state of Arkansas.  People were stealin’ the stone as fast as they could and we were too far away to get ‘em.  So we sold the quarry at a considerable profit having gotten the fresh _______ of it and some more and Idlewild Church and we buy our stone now already cut so to speak in usable sizes and you don’t have to haul all the scrap over here.  So that’s where it is now.


There’s no erosion.  There’s no external maintenance.  The chisel 
[0:26:00]
marks are still clear on the corners.  It makes it a very economical type of building and because of the thickness of the walls which are mostly – there’s seven inches of stone, an inch of air, eight inches of concrete block and then plaster.  That makes a lot of wall to make these very easy to heat and to cool.  That’s turned out to be a pretty good thing.  


So some people accused Dr. Deal of great extravagance, particularly the Presbyterians who had not done much to bring the college here, but if it’s been here 55 years, all we’ve done to the exterior is to paint the window sash about twice.  Now the interior of course is what costs in any building.  In your home it doesn’t 
[0:27:00]
matter whether you got stone or brick or wood.   It’s the inside wiring and plumbing and various costs as you know of course.


So this accidentally because it was beautiful turned out to be very appropriate for the present day.

[00;27;16]
Peggy Jameson:
But he did have always, what we hear people talking about is the stone pile in Southwestern.

Dr. Peyton Rhodes:
Well that stone pile was just – we couldn’t get rid of it.  We used a lot of it.  It gets very hard after the air gets to it.  It comes out pretty deep in the ground and after about five years of being ventilated it’s so hard that the masons don’t like to work on it.  They have to sharpen their chisel about every five minutes.  So people stole a lot off the back end of course.  

We used a lot in making gateways and little walks.  If you could 
[0:28:00]
look in my backyard you’d find a few pieces that didn’t seem to fit anywhere else.

So the pile was __________ third off of these costs and there were little places where the stone masons put up ________ keep out of the sun and all and you can find traces of those all around the campus.  When we had the post-War rush and had all these wooden buildings, which came from Camp Forest by the way –

Peggy Jameson:
Oh.  And where was Camp Forest?

Dr. Peyton Rhodes:
Tennessee; it’s one of the biggest camps.  These were the hospital buildings.  You could still smell drugs.  We used a lot of these stones to keep the wind from coming up through the floor, put ‘em around the foundation.

Peggy Jameson:
And what did you use those buildings for?

Dr. Peyton Rhodes:
Classrooms.

Peggy Jameson:
When you had the big overflow after the war.

[0:29:00]
Dr. Peyton Rhodes:
Classrooms and additional libraries and actually we had a few students housed in some of ‘em.  It was pretty rough.

Ray Ann Cramer:
I was just gonna ask about the window.  We noticed so many of the little ________ filled smaller stained glass kind of windows.

Dr. Peyton Rhodes:
Well that’s the only way to have a window.  All the old cathedrals have that in Europe and a lot of the other buildings.  They’re leaded glass and it’s what they call antique glass.  This lady that has the ___________ --

Ray Ann Cramer:
______________.

Dr. Peyton Rhodes:
She knows all about that and some of this glass -- I don’t know whether any of this glass was imported or not.  I just don’t know.  It was not in the tower, but in the regular building and you match it 
[0:30:00]
with – don’t have any symmetry.  What’s that lady’s name?  Kuff –

Peggy Jameson:
____.

Dr. Peyton Rhodes:
She put the glass in the addition to the refectory that’s over there and does beautiful work.  When they get knocked out you’d think it would be easy just to put one in, but you got all the lead and that stuff and that’s probably the most expensive upkeep.  When the boys throw baseballs through the windows and nobody did it.

Peggy Jameson:
Well now let me get your story back a little bit because you and Alice came and you lived with the Smith’s on Snowden.

Dr. Peyton Rhodes:
Then we moved into a number of houses in this Evergreen _______ at the time.  We lived at 1934.  We lived at 1956 on 
[0:31:00]
Snowden.  On the other side of the street we lived at 1917 and 1911.  The 1911 features in Tennessee Williams I think.

Peggy Jameson:
Oh, is that near the Dacon home?

Dr. Peyton Rhodes:
It was the Dacon.

Peggy Jameson:
It was the Dacon; alright.

Dr. Peyton Rhodes:
I think it’s 1911.  I believe I could find it.  Then we finally bought a house at 1950 Lindale.  It’s the only house we [Audio skips].  We bought that house just as the Japanese bombed Pearl Harbor practically.

Peggy Jameson:
On Lindale.

Dr. Peyton Rhodes:
And we lived there until we moved into the house ___________ over here in 1956.

Peggy Jameson:
When you became president of Southwestern.

Dr. Peyton Rhodes:
No; I’d been president a long time in my own house.

Peggy Jameson:
Oh you had?

Dr. Peyton Rhodes:
The college didn’t have a residence for the president till this one 
[0:32:00]
over here and that was ’56.  We had just squeezed the Singers’ and people in down ____________ a ___________ sometime, but we lived there longer than we lived in this house.
[00;32;10]
Peggy Jameson:
When did you become president then?

Dr. Peyton Rhodes:
In ’49.

Peggy Jameson:
In ’49.  Oh, you –

Dr. Peyton Rhodes:
July ’49.

Peggy Jameson:
Yeah; I didn’t realize that.  And you were the second president then of Southwestern at Memphis.

Dr. Peyton Rhodes:
I guess that’s right.

Peggy Jameson:
I don’t want to skip over totally Tennessee Williams and what he was like.

Dr. Peyton Rhodes:
Well this was an accidental deal.  We were living with about – 1917 Snowden – this whole region out here was full of these little __________ type bungalows.  They had all been built around 1920 
[0:33:00]
to ’25.  There were a lot of vacant lots up and down these cross streets when we came here.
Peggy Jameson:
There were, yeah.

Dr. Peyton Rhodes:
But the section down on Evergreen is older.  They were built maybe in the 1912-15 and were bigger, bigger house.  Think Galloway and Evergreen and all those houses down there were built before this one.  Then Hyde Park was about ’26 I think, wasn’t it; somethin’ like that.


But we lived all around.  We met this reverend Mr. Dacon and his wife who were very lovely people.  He had preached in practically every Episcopal Church in Mississippi and Tennessee, was a 
[0:34:00]
kindly man and lived to be well over 90.  They were the grandparents of Tennessee Williams whose father was chief sales manager or somethin’ for the International Shoe Company in St. Louis.  His wife was Dacon’s daughter.  


So Tom Dacon as we called him, Tennessee Williams – he and his father didn’t see eye to eye.  Mr. Williams was one of these men that give him the Sunday paper and a good cigar, why he was happy.  Tennessee, or Tom, went to college – he didn’t care whether Tom went to college.  He liked to get him in the business while he could.  Tom wasn’t for the shoe business.


He went out – Kansas, Iowa or someplace.  Iowa I believe and 
[0:35:00]
started sort of wandering around.  I don’t know this for sure, but I think he worked his way through washin’ dishes or somethin’.  Didn’t get too much support from home, but his father was well to do.  I visited him at home by St. Louis.  


So he kept on and started scribblin’ little ways and ---

Peggy Jameson:
Always wanted to be a playwright.

Dr. Peyton Rhodes:
Wanted to do somethin’ other than sell shoes particularly.  I couldn’t hardly blame him.  When he was a little boy he used to come down to visit his grandparents ya’ see and we’d see him, try to be nice to the little boy.  


Then he grew up and became well known later on.  His father died.  I don’t know when and he had a younger brother who’s a lawyer.  
[0:36:00]
His name is Dacon Williams.  Mrs. Williams I think is still living in a nursing home in St. Louis.  Alice and she used to exchange notes and Christmas cards and all.


Mr. Dacon after his wife’s death naturally had nobody with him.  So he went to live with his daughter in St. Louis where he of course saw Tom occasionally, but he liked to return to Memphis.  His great pleasure was to go to Calvary Church at the midday services.


Mrs. Williams would put him on a train and then call Alice up and say, ‘Will you meet father on so and so.’  Alice would meet him, take him to the ________.  He would stay with us.  He would eat 
[0:37:00]
with us, but he wouldn’t stay and so on and so forth.


He died and Tom became well known with Glass Menagerie, which was really the story of his family.  You knew that of course.

Peggy Jameson:
Yes.

Dr. Peyton Rhodes:
He had an afflicted sister named – oh, I can’t remember the girls’ name, but anyway the crippled girl in this play was a true picture of his sister.  His mother was very much like the –

Peggy Jameson:
Was she the dominating sort of --?

Dr. Peyton Rhodes:
Well she always wanted the girl to get along and have dates and all and her mother was a little bit on the –

[00;37;40]
Peggy Jameson:
Flighty?

Dr. Peyton Rhodes:
Sort of.  If she had a daughter she would want her to be popular let’s say.  So that’s the story of the play.  Mr. Dacon never could 
[0:38:00]
understand why his grandson wanted to use such bad language in his plays, but Tom was awfully nice to his grandparents and he didn’t let them suffer financially.


After he went to St. Louis, we lived for a time in that house.  It was vacant and we lived in the Dacon house for several years.

Peggy Jameson:
Well in the little excerpt from it where he does obviously have some errors in his calling you the wrong name and various things, but he talked about the Rose Arbor players in the neighborhood that there was a little group and he did a little play for them.  I was curious.  Does that ring a bell?
Dr. Peyton Rhodes:
There was a lady here that was very much interested in the arts.  A 
[0:39:00]
Mrs. – gosh.  There was such a group.

Peggy Jameson:
They weren’t connected with Southwestern.

Dr. Peyton Rhodes:
No; not at all.  They did little plays out in the back gardens or somethin’.  I tell you, the only person this Mr. – man that writes historical things from the –

Peggy Jameson:
Copper –

Dr. Peyton Rhodes:
-- paper.  

Peggy Jameson:
________ Copper.

Dr. Peyton Rhodes:
He might know, but this lady was very much interested in the literature and fine arts.  Is Miss Raines living?

Peggy Jameson:
Yeah.

Dr. Peyton Rhodes:
Flora Raines?

Peggy Jameson:
Ida Raines – Ida – Ida Raines.

Dr. Peyton Rhodes:
Flora Rawls.

Peggy Jameson:
Flora Rawls – I don’t think she’s living.  Ida Raines is still living.

Dr. Peyton Rhodes:
How old is she?

Peggy Jameson:
Oh, Miss Raines.  

[Crosstalk]

Peggy Jameson:
She’d have to be close to –

[0:40:00]

Dr. Peyton Rhodes:
Was she a contemporary of the girl at the Episcopal cathedral?  What’s her name?  [Audio stops and starts] – might know.

Peggy Jameson:
Ada Raines; Ida.

Dr. Peyton Rhodes:
Ada Raines.  Ada.  Ada.  

Peggy Jameson:
Ada; I really did say that; okay.

Dr. Peyton Rhodes:
Gosh, I’ve known her all of her life.  Well anyway, the cathedral at church.  Then who is some other old person that’s pretty much on the ball that’s been around here a long time in the literary group, Phi Beta Kappa group.  Is there anywhere I can look?  [Audio stops and starts]  I’ll see her tonight.

Peggy Jameson:
Alrighty.

Ray Ann Cramer:
Ann Lucia ________.

Peggy Jameson:
Might know.  Okay; the Rose Arbor. Well that was interesting –

[0:41:00]
Dr. Peyton Rhodes:
There was such a deal and I suspect that this Williams boy did somethin’ for them.  Now I’d see him when he’d come to see his grand – I saw him in New York one time after he’d become pretty famous.

Peggy Jameson:
When did he take on the name Tennessee?  He just picked it?

Dr. Peyton Rhodes:
I don’t know.

Peggy Jameson:
Okay.  So you lived in the house on Lindale.

Ray Ann Cramer:
Did you build that or buy it?

Dr. Peyton Rhodes:
Bought it.  

Peggy Jameson:
And you bought that in about –

Dr. Peyton Rhodes:
In 1941.

Peggy Jameson:
In ’41.  And do you remember what you paid for it?

Dr. Peyton Rhodes:
For $7,100.00.

Peggy Jameson:
Boy, and it was three bedrooms?

Dr. Peyton Rhodes:
Yeah; it had been turned into a duplex and yeah; it was at least three.  My mother lived in the upstairs and she’d come down.  My father had died.  One, two – well it technically could have been four bedrooms.  It was one of these _________ things and it was a 
[0:42:00]
small lot and we paid too much.  It could’ve been gotten for 7,000, but it had gone up a little.  Doesn’t that sound silly?
Peggy Jameson:
That’s amazing.  Right as the war began.

Ray Ann Cramer:
Was the area very developed around there where the –

Dr. Peyton Rhodes:
Yeah; it was pretty well developed.  Most of the little houses had cost around $12,000.00 to build in the Depression and put the price down to these prices.  You could buy ‘em for 5, 6, 7,000 dollars in those years, but 1940 was the main low point.  Yeah; it was pretty well developed.  

The stores were at the corner down here, the restaurants, barber shops and all of that.  The Everglade Pub certainly was in existence before that.  As I think I told you when they quit they had some money and they gave it to the college for scholarships.

[0:43:00]
Some of those Evergreeners had moved over into Hyde Park.

[00;43;06]
Peggy Jameson:
He talked to Betty Tilly about the Evergreen Club and that overlaps our two neighborhoods.  


Well, Dr. Rhodes, now when you bought the house in ’41, how old was your house then did you think?

Dr. Peyton Rhodes:
Well, it was built – I would say it must have been built in about ’26 or along in there because the Depression, the bad year was ’33.  The stock market crashed in October of ’29.  The reason I know all this is we been studyin’ all of this in _______ Davis’ discussion ‘cause that group has been going on about 30 years.  We covered 
[0:44:00]
the 20’s _____________ goin’ to do the 30’s and 40’s this fall.

Peggy Jameson:
Great.

Dr. Peyton Rhodes:
So we know all about the times we grew up here.

Peggy Jameson:
Good.  I need to come to that again.

Dr. Peyton Rhodes:
Yeah; that’s a good deal.  So the houses were not old, not very old.  ____________ livin’ in it now.  The plans I got a hold of it and Mr. Mann did the _________________.  They’re dated –

Peggy Jameson:
Was Mr. Mann ________ Ballenger’s father?

Dr. Peyton Rhodes:
Yeah.

Peggy Jameson:
I should have known that.  

Dr. Peyton Rhodes:
She died a while back, but she _________ sister.  We’ll see them tonight, too.

Peggy Jameson:
Are you?

Dr. Peyton Rhodes:
She’s very close, it’s our closest family –

Peggy Jameson:
Yeah; I’m crazy about ______ and this was her father, George Mann.

Dr. Peyton Rhodes:
George Mann and the firm still has his name.

Peggy Jameson:
Yeah; right.  I knew her father was an architect and I –

Dr. Peyton Rhodes:
And he did this house and when we bought it before ___________ mine and got us some of the plans.

Ray Ann Cramer:
Where is the house?

[0:45:00]
Dr. Peyton Rhodes:
1531 Central; it’s next door to where Dr. Ellitt used to live with all the pretty azaleas, but they’re no longer pretty and the people there don’t touch ‘em –

Peggy Jameson:
Take care of ‘em.  George Mann did the houses the LeMaster’s built over here on Jackson.

Dr. Peyton Rhodes:
Yeah; I think he did some of these Spanish type houses that you see around the end of McClain and on Central, too.  I did.  I met him once.  I didn’t know him well, but this neighborhood was well developed and it was considered an awfully good neighborhood to be in and then when they opened up that park – what’d they call the golf course?
Ray Ann Cramer:
Vollentine –

Peggy Jameson:
Vollentine _______ --

Dr. Peyton Rhodes:
All of that was a big field clear out to Mr. Gucci’s lumber place and to the roofin’ people and the –

Peggy Jameson:
Who were the roofin’ –

[0:46:00]
Dr. Peyton Rhodes:
Always a great Tennessee football fan.  He did all the roofs on campus [Audio starts and stops] – out where the Buckman laboratories are now.  That’s Buckman Laboratory was for – Fiedler – Chris Fiedler.  Yeah; you would –

Peggy Jameson:
Sure; right.  And that was out there.

Dr. Peyton Rhodes:
That was out there, the other side of the golf course.  That of course is all built up now.  The Blacks are moving in and gradually absorbing that whole region up as far as Valentine.  The property has not increased quite as fast in value there, but a lot of __________ transmittals there.  But that was all open field and for lack of anything better they turned it into a golf course.  

Peggy Jameson:
We interviewed the family there, the Terry’s.  It was the Terry 
[0:47:00]
property and they had a Terry Dairy there.  They did it to pay taxes they said.


Well now I want to move on to your role as president of Southwestern.  You became president in ’49 and served until ’65?

Dr. Peyton Rhodes:
’65.

Peggy Jameson:
So in a very long period of development.  Now talk to us about what is most notable to you about your –

Dr. Peyton Rhodes:
Well frankly I just sort of react to lots of things come up in those years into a big vacuum.  It’s pretty much holdin’ the place together financially was always a problem.  During that interval we 
[0:48:00]
managed to get some money from the Ford Foundation for this and that, from various organizations and we did hold together.  

We didn’t have any debts and we managed to get a pretty good faculty.  Toward the end we got this huge science center, which there is no equal in the United States ______________________.

[00;48;21]
Peggy Jameson:
You’d be particularly interested in that of course.
Dr. Peyton Rhodes:
Yeah; well we were pretty lucky. We had lots of friends.  Mr. Burrow of course did the library.  That was the first big thing that set us off.  Walt Jones, by the way, that was the only exception to the architects of the original ones in all that period.  

Mr. Walt Jones, Sr., and Mr. Burrow were great buddies and so 
[0:49:00]
Mr. Burrow asked that we employ him.  He didn’t know anything about collegiate _______.  That is he and Walt Jr.  ____________.


So they went off to a firm in Knoxville that did know somethin’ and set it up for him.  It ended up with Mr. Burrow had the _____________ talked about the deal _____ person if I came on.  It was all pretty well set except Mr. Burrow couldn’t quite make up his mind.  He didn’t always reach a conclusion _________.  He’d _____ in terms of $500,000.00, which sounded like it oughta ___________ the library cost him and it was over by about a million one.
Peggy Jameson:
What did Mr. Burrow do?

Dr. Peyton Rhodes:
Well that’s a chapter in itself.  Ya’ see you’re gettin’ me off on the 
[0:50:00]
sidelines and I’ve enjoyed the sidelines over the last few years.  Mr. Burrow was quite a guy.  He made his money off of World War I.  


The story is and I can’t vouch for all of it.  You know these recollections get bigger and bigger and bigger _______.  The story is that Mr. Burrow had a sister and he was poor and the question was could he go to college or his sister go to college.  So his sister went to college.  


He ran a little grocery store about the corner of Peabody and McClain.  Then somebody took him into the cotton business and he did very well in the cotton business.  This honest, upstandin’ 
[0:51:00]
young man came along and met the right people and all.


So when the war came along and the British and the French needed a lot of nitro cellulose for use in explosives, they needed the cellulose off of cotton ______.  These little _______ that sticks, but they don’t get it off of first ________.  You get that later.  That’s what they make cheap mattresses out of.


Well the story that I got, course all this is second hand, Mr. Burrow – somebody wanted to know what dealer could they trust to just take charge of buyin’ up all the nitro cellulose they could get hold of.  Somebody says, ‘Well young Burrow is thoroughly honest and he knows the cotton market.’  So Mr. Burrow got signed up to get all the cotton linens there were in the world practically and deliver 
[0:52:00]
‘em so they could be made into _______.


Well if you make a tenth of a cent a pound and you have a couple gillion pounds it adds up to money.  So Mr. Burrow –

Peggy Jameson:
So he left the store.  

Dr. Peyton Rhodes:
Mr. Burrow got to be budsy-wudsy with the right DuPont’s in Wilmington who were makin’ all the explosives just as they made a few for Mr. Jefferson in the early problem with England.  So Mr. Burrow salted them some money.  He and Mrs. Burrow got along very well.  I think their home out there on _______ is still a beautiful place.
Peggy Jameson:
Which one was theirs?

Dr. Peyton Rhodes:
You haven’t been born long enough.

Peggy Jameson:
I know it.  I don’t know that.

Dr. Peyton Rhodes:
You’ve got to grow up and know about these ________ things.  
[0:53:00]
It’s the one right across from the Bill Mickey’s.  It’s cut stone and a sort of _______ roof off to one side.  It’s –

Peggy Jameson:
On the east side of the street.

Dr. Peyton Rhodes:
On the east side of the street.  It’s ____________.  It’s much more open now.  I think they cut down some of the hollies.  It’s not exactly any style that I could tell you, but it’s a beautiful big house and was well furnished.  I can testify to that.

[00;53;34]
Peggy Jameson:
And so he was willin’ to –

Dr. Peyton Rhodes:
Dr. Deal and he had been one of the prime movers bringin’ the college to Memphis.  So Dr. Deal is solely responsible for interesting Mr. Burrow.  He had an idea of the library.  So I came 
[0:54:00]
along and one of the first things that gave me a lift maybe the year after I went in, was his comin’ in the office and sayin’, ‘Let’s go on build a library.’  That made a nice day.  


Dr. Deal had been talkin’ to him in terms of a half million, but when we got through it was over a million.  It’s a good library.  [Audio stops and starts]

I tried to get away and I made the mistake of stayin’ on here and every time they need a slot filled they asked me to come back.  What I’m doin’ now is just markin’ time and signin’ things that I don’t know too much about.  I hope I did no harm until they find a new dean.  You can suffer in surroundings like this for a little while.  [Audio stops and starts]
[0:55:00]
-- dig that out for ya’.  The Farberson’s and the Snowden’s – that’s old John, the father of Nell –

Peggy Jameson:
Dickerson.

Dr. Peyton Rhodes:
-- Farberson’s husband.  Nell used to come up to Woodberry Forest to dances when I was teachin’ there.  I knew her ‘for I came here.  She’s a wonderful dancer.  


The property and farm land included down to past the cotton council and part of Snowden School.  In this present plot here where we are is exactly 100 acres, which is pretty good.  The cost was of the order of I think 150 or $175,000.00 for the works.

[0:56:00]
Peggy Jameson:
And if they bought – it looks like that the Farberson’s had about 73 acres.  So then they got from the Snowden’s then.  

Dr. Peyton Rhodes:
Yeah’; when it was, the so-called deal on Farberson field was some way they got the price to a point where the Farberson’s said, ‘Well, we’ll give you 15 acres’ or somethin’, ‘if you’ll give us so much for the rest.’  Somethin’ like that.  


That’s where the deal was that this many acres would always be called either the Farberson field or a Farberson field used for purposes of athletics and social life.  Well, you can cover anything practically with that tent.  


So the football field used to be over here somewhere.  Well that was Farberson field.  When they moved it over there that’s Farberson field and this was for somethin’ else.  So we got it all 
[0:57:00]
settled with the ads that as long as we had so many acres and it was used for gymnasiums or tennis courts, that was okay.  It was all on the up and up.  See, I got all this later.  


The price seemed very high to some board members and many of them held that for places well east.  Now Dr. Deal I think talked ‘em down on that and that’s when they worked out this deal with the Snowden’s and Farberson’s, but it’s given us ______ because they could take a – let’s see.  The income tax was in in 1912 so they could take a tax exemption.  That often has a very nice effect on people.

Peggy Jameson:
Now tell me, too, about the large contribution from the Briggs – the Briggs’ Dairy.  Was that under your administration?

[0:58:00]
Dr. Peyton Rhodes:
Yeah; Mr. Briggs’ family had a dairy farm down on there.  I met Mr. Briggs – Mr. Briggs was livin’ in New York, but he came back to – well they – they lived over on let’s see.  Mrs. Briggs, as I knew her, she’s still livin’, was his second wife of Mr. Briggs.  Her sons are named [Audio stops and starts] – or somethin’ else.  I’ll have to dig it up.


They were very happy and everything and lived there on Angelus 
[0:59:00]
or someplace and he was a member of the ________ club.  I don’t know how I met him.  Charlie Askew had somethin’ to do with it; old Charlie my age.


I went to see them up in New York one time.  I remember that.  They were livin’ in an apartment up there.  This Welcome Wagon was a big deal and was a tremendous money maker.  The main office was up on Fifth Avenue about the level of the New Yorker Theater.  I called on them up there one time and then they started buildin’ a house here down in Chickasaw Gardens.  You knew that.

But anyway, it came around and we had an arrangement with Mr. 
[1:00:00]
Briggs that we’d set up a corporation; a money makin’ corporation.  He gave us the stock.

[01;00;03]
Peggy Jameson:
Oh, I see.

Dr. Peyton Rhodes:
But before anything much happened we had a clause in there that if he should die all the stock came to us ya’ see, the college.  He wanted to do that.  The stock owned this spot of land, which is about – I don’t know how many acres.


So before long, before we even had a directors’ meeting he died.  So the college inherited the corpus of the stock, which was so many acres of land down here.  We got for it.  It’s no secret.  I think we sold it for about either 270 or $370,000.00, which was not enough to build a student center.  

[1:01:00]
Mrs. Briggs, his widow, gave us a little later 50 more thousand dollars.  So that buildin’ cost about 550; ______ it cost about a million five.  


He just gave us the stock.  Then it was transmitted into property .  Then it went into money.  [Audio stops and starts]


We had sold some land to the Cotton Council.

Peggy Jameson:
Southwestern had sold some.

Dr. Peyton Rhodes:
Yeah.  Down next to what was Snowden School.  We had this land which was mostly bio, ditch and we couldn’t do anything with it.  It would have cost a fortune to bridge a ditch.  So somebody got interested in it, came and approached the college.  
[1:02:00]
We sold it to – I think it was the people were Jewish and the interesting thing about it is that the man that I talked with most had married this sister and they lived in Memphis, of the chief publicity man for the state of Israel, whom I had met over there in ’55.  He was very nice to me.  When he came to town he’d come see me.  He is smart; bang, bang, bang.  Just like _____________ almost.  


So we got along fine with this gentleman that was negotiatin’ the deal.  He came up here one day.  What year was that then?  I’ve forgotten what year it was.

Ray Ann Cramer:
Who was it that bought it?

Dr. Peyton Rhodes:
I don’t know the name of the firm.  It wasn’t Blumenthal, but it was –

Peggy Jameson:
Bloomfield.

[1:03:00]
Dr. Peyton Rhodes:
Bloomfield, but some group that this gentleman represented that we were talkin’ to.  We just about closed the deal.  We got to talkin’ about what we’d call it and I was rackin’ my brain.  I said, ‘Well you don’t wanna call it manor ‘cause it isn’t a manor and you don’t wanna call it a simple old apartment.’  I said, ‘Why don’t you – [Audio stops and starts]

Ray Ann Cramer:
Tape two, August 7th 1979.  Our interview with Dr. Peyton Rhodes.  

Peggy Jameson:
We were talkin’ about the Parkway House and that Southwestern put in certain stipulations.

Dr. Peyton Rhodes:
_______________________ not make it too horrible lookin’ and it could only go so many stories.  That’s the ground rule for all the 
[1:04:00]
apartments in town I think.  It can only be 10 or 12 stories.  It’s a very nice place, except sellin’ condominiums is runnin’ everybody out.

Peggy Jameson:
Well now, we hadn’t talked about Hyde Park at all and moving into the house there on West Drive.

Dr. Peyton Rhodes:
Well, we moved and –

Peggy Jameson:
You moved in –

Dr. Peyton Rhodes:
December of ’56 from 1950 livin’ there.  Well it was the nicest house we’ve ever lived in.  It’s a very nice house.

Peggy Jameson:
And it’s now the manse for the president, the president’s house we call it.

Dr. Peyton Rhodes:
Right; that was the first time at least in Memphis that the college had had a home for the president.  I don’t know what they have in _____________________, but.  So we lived there until our 
[1:05:00]
retirement in ’65.  That would nine years I think, wouldn’t it, and were very happy there and so forth and so on.

It’s been several changes internally I think have been made and I think maybe what we call the garage has been converted into a bedroom, but it’s one of three houses that belong to the Wallace family.  There’s one around the corner on North Drive, one on the corner of North Drive and West Drive and then the one on West Drive.  


Diana Crump and her sister – what’d we call –

Peggy Jameson:
Ambly?

[01;05;43]
Dr. Peyton Rhodes:
Yeah; Ambly.  She had a name though.  She worked in the office up here, in my office.

Peggy Jameson:
Whizzy – Mae or Whizzy.

[1:06:00]
Dr. Peyton Rhodes:
Mae – Mae.  I took her to a bullfight in Madrid once when she was workin’ for the airport.

Peggy Jameson:
Right; she was ________ --

Dr. Peyton Rhodes:
She lived in –

Peggy Jameson:
Montgomery.

Dr. Peyton Rhodes:
Montgomery.  She was up here recently and I’m mad at her ‘cause she didn’t come over.  I think she had her daughter graduate here and the other one, Charlie Crump’s wife told me she’s comin’ to see me, but she didn’t.  She’s an awfully nice girl _____________.


But anyway, this Judge Wallace – the Wallace’s lived in those three houses and they were all a little different.  As I say, we lived there about nine years and then we bought this place from Tom Wellford over on Central and cleaned it up a little bit.


[Audio stops and starts]


I don’t know a thing ___________ but –

[1:07:00]
Peggy Jameson:
Behind W.A. Hyde.

Dr. Peyton Rhodes:
No; ya’ mean Hyde Park –

Peggy Jameson:
Uh huh.

Dr. Peyton Rhodes:
No; that was all developed when we came here ya’ see.  We were the newcomers.  We just from ’26, that’s 51 or 2 years.  That’d make ya’ an old citizen by any means.  You gotta be _____________________, but no, I never heard of anything about those people.

Peggy Jameson:
We think there’s a story there but we can’t put a finger on it.

Dr. Peyton Rhodes:
Does Mr. Coppidge know anything about it?
Peggy Jameson:
We’ll have to check with him and see.

Dr. Peyton Rhodes:
I’ll tell ya’ a great picker upper of bits of information is Jim Roper who teaches English here.  He has been the president of the Tennessee Historical – he and Ed Williams who is an 

[1:08:00]
environmental engineer and politician are always comin’ up with interesting things.  Both of them know a lot about the bluffs and the early settlements on the bluffs, but the expansion this way I just don’t know anything about it myself.  Jim might.  It’s James Roper and you could pick him up through the probably switchboard ---

Peggy Jameson:
Yeah; right; that’s a good idea.

Dr. Peyton Rhodes:
I’ve forgotten where he lives.

Peggy Jameson:
Does he live in this neighborhood?

Dr. Peyton Rhodes:
No; he lives fairly far.  He was married and divorced and then he was remarried ____________.  They may live out there in that – just across James Road with that _______.  So many of our faculty there.  We must have 15 people livin’ out there just across and up 
[1:09:00]
those streets names – unpronounceable Scotch names.
Peggy Jameson:
Of course it’s very obvious that so many of Southwestern’s faculty have lived in this neighborhood in what we call the Veca neighborhood and had a part in the organization.  Have you had any association with the Veca organization?  Vollentine Evergreen Community Action.  I think you all print the newsletter for them.

Dr. Peyton Rhodes: 
Yeah; I think the college does that and then there’s a young German man that’s very active in it I think.  The only dealins’ I had with them was I was one of the organizers of the central garden area, one of the founding members and treasurer for awhile. 


I was asked by a group lived over on Forest I think it was to tell 
[1:10:00]
them, some meeting, how we proceeded, how we got goin’ and so forth.  That’s the only time I’ve ever met with anybody over on – that was after we moved over there – anybody in this region.


When we came along we were pretty young and busy and movin’ around.  Course I was teachin’ and the movement towards clubs in areas had subsided.  You see they’d started over was developing.  Well it was already through developing.  The houses were then sold and the people movin’ out East if they had any money and they wished they hadn’t most of  ‘em I guess now.  I just didn’t hear anything about this part of town.

[1:11:00:]
Peggy Jameson:
Well you just sort of missed the racial to do in the city when neighborhoods really started to change, your presidency.

Dr. Peyton Rhodes:
Well, we were here and of course we had our problems with integrating the college.  Many of the more conservative people out East that had come out with the second presidency and church were horrified and we had many discussions with disgruntled church members, but so far as the movement of integration in the housing, we were already in Hyde Park when that came up in this region.  Of course we weren’t very far from it in Hyde Park, but it didn’t really bother us.  That part didn’t affect the college.

Peggy Jameson:
When did you integrate the college?

[01;12;00]
[1:12:00]
Dr. Peyton Rhodes:
When was the Supreme Court –

Peggy Jameson:
’54 was the –

Dr. Peyton Rhodes:
’54 was it?

Peggy Jameson:
Uh huh.  I mean that was the – yeah; ’54; Topeka vs. Brown.

Dr. Peyton Rhodes:
I would think in about – gosh, about ’62 or ’63, along in there.  I can’t be sure of that –

Ray Ann Cramer:
Do you have many Black students here?

Dr. Peyton Rhodes:
Not very many.  I would guess 20-25.  There hadn’t been many 
[1:13:00]
Black employees in offices.  The admissions director is a Black and we had a professor in biology.  He didn’t know any biology.  That was his troubles.  I oughta know that date.

Ya’ see what happens is that the best prepared Blacks go East; Yale, Harvard, Princeton.  They will give ‘em any amount of aid or whatever to get the top ones.  So we don’t get the best ones.  We get the second level.  The southern colleges get the second level.  
[1:14:00]
The east and northwest get the top ones.  We do what we can, but I was sure that the admissions counselor leads towards increasing the number, but there’s not much we can do about it.

Peggy Jameson:
‘Cause your tuition’s high –

Dr. Peyton Rhodes:
High tuition.  We give a great deal of aid and I bet if we’ve ever had a Black student that didn’t get some aid.  I don’t know that, but that’s my guest.  We’ve had one or two on the football team.  Not aided for that reason, but they happen to be good athletes.  I don’t think it’s gonna change very much.  I don’t see how it can.

Peggy Jameson:
But when you integrated the campus, then you did have complaints from conservative –

[1:15:00]
Dr. Peyton Rhodes: 
_____________ Mississippi __________ ya’ know.  You get long letters and so forth and ‘We might not support you anymore’.  Well most of ‘em had wrote that ______________ support __________________.  These people that always gonna come _______ support  ______________ college 25 hours in 1951 or somethin’.  No; you just ________________ some of your friends don’t like ya’, but they generally get over it.

Peggy Jameson:
Sure.

Dr. Peyton Rhodes:
But colleges have taken sort of a beating and some of ‘em still suffer.

Peggy Jameson:
Is Southwestern you feel in pretty good condition now – financial condition?

Dr. Peyton Rhodes:
Oh, I think so; yeah.  __________________ --

Peggy Jameson:
Not gonna any time soon or make any changes.

Dr. Peyton Rhodes:
I’m just tryin’ to get out of a job.

Ray Ann Cramer:
Well I noticed several of your students have done reports, 
[1:16:00]
especially through the sociology department studying the surround neighborhood, doing sociological statistics –

Dr. Peyton Rhodes:
I didn’t know that.

Ray Ann Cramer:
Oh, you didn’t?  Well anyway, the school seems to make an effort occasionally to know what’s going on in the neighborhood.

Dr. Peyton Rhodes:
Well the sociology people would be the ones to do it.  I imagine some of them have written term papers.  You might dig up some facts that you didn’t know.  There’s several very attractive people.  Zach Conrad who is more of an anthropologist.  He’s in that department.  A man named Claw; not the painter, but his cousin.  I think it’s Tom Claw.  


Then there was a woman.  I believe she’s on sabbatical now, but 
[1:17:00]
it’s quite possible that they have worked this whole thing over pretty extensively.

Have you ever talked with this German man –

Ray Ann Cramer:
Ruwheiler.

Peggy Jameson:
Ruwheiler.  We talked to Rick Thomas.  He’s in the sociology department, but we need to probably try to get Ruwheiler.

Dr. Peyton Rhodes:
You all got quite a job really.

Peggy Jameson:
Well, and we don’t want to leave off the lovely little corner you were telling us about, going over to the Jolly’s and how well kept this is.

Dr. Peyton Rhodes:
I really encourage you to see that.  You could quote that to somebody that needs to put the top back on his garbage can.

[01;17;38]
Ray Ann Cramer:
Oh, are you talking about the rose garden?

Dr. Peyton Rhodes:
Yeah; go over that and go down on Snowden.  That’s just right over here.  Turn into the first alley on the right and go on through 
[1:18:00]
to Lindale.  You’d be amazed.  People have –

Ray Ann Cramer:
Is that the house that fronts on University and Lindale?  Is that the back of that house _________ the road ________?
Dr. Peyton Rhodes:
Yeah; all of those along back that way.  The first house on the corner I think is the home of the Methodist minister of Trinity Church over on Galloway.  I think we sold him that lot.  I think that belonged to the college once.  Ya’ just turn in that first alley and just drive slowly through and then look down at the alley between Lindale and Snowden and it’ll amaze you.  I was astounded.  ___________ alleys over to Central Garden _______ look that good.

Peggy Jameson:
Does Southwestern own anymore property in the neighborhood?

[1:19:00]
Dr. Peyton Rhodes:
No; we own some apartments on McClain.  Ya’ know where Dr. Millard lives?

Peggy Jameson:
I know Dr. Millard, but I don’t know where he lives.  Near the library?  The McClain.

Dr. Peyton Rhodes:
This side of Peabody.  I don’t know their number, but there are two sets on the left, on the east side that we’ve owned for many years and have been very useful and when new faculty members come in we can frequently offer ‘em a place to stay temporary.  


I think we own an apartment on the other side left to us by will from Mr.  Johnson who had an afflicted son who was nuts on telescopes.  You’d know this man.  He owned the ________ state.  Mr. – Johnson, Johnson, Johnson.

Peggy Jameson:
It couldn’t be Wallace ‘cause he didn’t have any children.

[1:20:00]
Dr. Peyton Rhodes:
No, no, no.  Anyway, we may own them.  I don’t know.

Peggy Jameson:
But nothing in the neighborhood.

Dr. Peyton Rhodes:
Nothin’ yeah.  Well we own these buildings right across the street ya’ know.

Peggy Jameson:
Oh, the apartments.  

Dr. Peyton Rhodes:
Those brick buildins’.

Peggy Jameson:
Oh yeah.

Dr. Peyton Rhodes:
We own those.

Peggy Jameson:
And the crisis center is in one of ‘em.

Dr. Peyton Rhodes:
I didn’t know.

Peggy Jameson:
Well, maybe I’m –

Dr. Peyton Rhodes:
Maybe; I don’t know.

Peggy Jameson:
Is there any public policy that you feel has affected the neighborhood or the school?  We’re interested in public policy and how close it affects neighborhoods.

Dr. Peyton Rhodes:
Nah; see, I’ve been out of the neighborhood now for 12-14 years.  We’re concerned about the, of course, since it’s bordered on our 
[1:21:00]
property, this opposed shift in I-40 and nothin’ definite has really been proposed, but what has been pictured in the papers looks extremely cumbersome from the point of view of people comin’ in from the east and the point of view of people that are residents in the neighborhood seems extremely awkward what they’ve opposed.  There was a cut the other day.  

Anybody couldn’t come in somewhere in them all.  You’d have to somehow get over on Parker goin’ west and that’s bad enough as it is.  Then comin’ out this way you’d be intersecting the busiest east/north/south street and biggest, namely McClain in the city.  It’s the only big north/south street until you go downtown and they’re proposing to cross that in some way or go over it which I 
[1:22:00]
hope it sort of simmers out again.  I don’t see how it can do it.

Peggy Jameson:
Will the college take a stand against that do you think?

Dr. Peyton Rhodes:
I wouldn’t know.  Some _______ might be for.  It hasn’t reached the college officially in any way.  I’m sure some of our faculty that live in the neighborhood will be goin’ to these night meetings, talk it over, but there’s nothin’ sufficiently far along to take a stand on.
Peggy Jameson:
Did the college take a stand on the expressway through Overton Park or just individually do it?  Did you as an institution take a stand?

Dr. Peyton Rhodes:
I don’t know.  I think a good many of the faculty took individual things, environmentalist sort of, but I don’t think the college ever got that deep into it.  

[01;22;59]
[1:23:00]
Peggy Jameson:
Do you think it would hurt you if the expressway went through Overton Park?  Do you think it would change the character of the --?

Dr. Peyton Rhodes:
Well I personally think it would have its affect on the neighborhood.  It’d increase the traffic east and west and I don’t know.  I would hate to mess the park up.  Of course this tunnelin’ thing that seems to me rather absurd.  Not only because the cost, but if you tunnel under trees you’re gonna kill ‘em.  You might just as well saw ‘em down first and use the fire wood as tryin’ to dig down under the – I never did get that tunnelin’ clearly.
[1:24:00]
Now actually there’s a little stream out there that it forces on the parkway that gives the people in Hyde Park a lot of trouble.

Peggy Jameson:
Is that Licht Creek?

Dr. Peyton Rhodes:
That’s Licht Creek.  It’s still there.

Peggy Jameson:
Is it?  Now tell me that.  I’ve been wonderin’ about that.

Dr. Peyton Rhodes:
It runs down behind the houses on West Drive.  Used to come right close to our backyard and it peters out a little bit, except when it rains too hard and it’ll give ‘em fits  to go down under there I imagine.


We found a spring on the boys’ hall when we put that up.  We had to put a drainage thing all the way around it.

Peggy Jameson:
So we know that there was a spring in the olden days out at Dale’s.  Did you know about that?

Dr. Peyton Rhodes:
I didn’t know about that.

Peggy Jameson:
But you did have a spring even here on the campus.

Dr. Peyton Rhodes:
We thought it might have been drainin’ that little lake over there, but the water came through.  We had a lot of trouble with it.  Sometimes I’ve seen it washin’ down between us and the 
[1:25:00]
Andrews.  Just a regular river sometimes.  Didn’t happen often.


Course the people in West High didn’t like us anyway because when we paved driveways over here for somethin’ well that meant no rain was gonna soak through.  It was dumpin’ somewhere else and they were getting’ it sometimes.  We couldn’t help that.  

Ray Ann Cramer:
Are there any future plans for expansion at Southwestern?

Dr. Peyton Rhodes:
Ya’ mean physical plan or educational ---

Ray Ann Cramer:
Well any kind.  What are they looking towards in the future?

Dr. Peyton Rhodes:
Nothin’, but building wise we would like somethin’ of an auditorium like situation which we don’t have, but there’s no plan that I know of for expanding the educational offerings or in ever 
[1:26:00]
increasing the students above 1,200.  We got up to about 1,100 once.  We’re runnin’ about a thousand, which is pretty good for ___________.


But so far as I know there are no plans – everybody wants us to have an engineering school or a law school or somethin’.  That comes up every now and then by uninformed people.  Ya’ just say, well we could endow that _______ now for about $50 million cash and that ends the discussions.


The plant now, I keep up with roughly the value of the plant, like buildin’s and you can get all of these rises in this and that by 
[1:27:00]
studyin’ this and that.  I would estimate at the present time if you just felt like you had to duplicate this __________ you could get this goin’.


In ’75, ’74 I figured it out usin’ the best formulas I could get.  It would cost about 32 million to duplicate the plant.  I think since ’74, this is 5 years, let’s say 10 percent a year.  I’d add 50 percent to that now.  

What gets ya’ is that the kids don’t realize that they’re getting the opportunity of residing in or sitting in or studying in fantastically expensive things that somebody else has paid for.

[1:28:00]
What they pay for tuition is chicken feed compared to what they get.  Just the interest on the money it would take to put this together again is fantastic, but the kids come in and we don’t have much building defacement on the surface, but they complain and they do this and that.  They don’t realize that their immediate ancestors and friends have put up fantastic sums of money for their enjoyment.


I wrote that in as fast as I can when I get a chance.

Peggy Jameson:
He wrote that in.  Well we certainly thank you.  [Audio stops and starts]

[01;28;42]
Ray Ann Cramer:
What did you have?

Peggy Jameson:
The question was did you have a centennial.

Dr. Peyton Rhodes:
We had what we called an inaugural and centennial celebration in the fall.  I think it was the fall of ’49 and we celebrated 50 years in 
[1:29:00]
Memphis in ’75 and had a little to do.

Peggy Jameson:
Have you got booklets on those?

Dr. Peyton Rhodes:
Oh, I’m sure.  I haven’t got ‘em, but I’m sure there’s some available.  I know the inaugural and all ‘cause that was when I was inaugurated.  They’re floatin’ around somewhere.  The president’s office, Miss Hall up there at the apartment dig up somethin’.  [Audio stops and starts]


-- livin’ there and I know we’ve got the program of that, which is very -  it was at night and very elegant and he pressed the button and the bells started ringin’.

Peggy Jameson:
Yeah; and this is the father of Richard Halliburton.

Dr. Peyton Rhodes:
Richard and I – I never met Richard, but I’ve been down here a long time before he got drowned.  He was the local Rudolf Valentino.  Did you ever meet him?

[1:30:00]
Peggy Jameson:
I never met him, but I’ve always felt like I have.

Dr. Peyton Rhodes:
He’s the teenagers’ delight.

Peggy Jameson;
I heard Miss Gillen talk about him.

Dr. Peyton Rhodes:
I never met him, but Mr. Halliburton was quite an interestin’ man.

Peggy Jameson:
And the tower.  That must have been exciting to see the bells ring.  When do the bells ring now?

Dr. Peyton Rhodes:
They strike the hours and give one stroke on the half hours.  They can be tolled if some member of the academic community dies and it can be peeled for joyous occasions all mechanically.  The tolling is tapped, it’s peeling, it’s swung.  

It’s the largest bell in the south with the exception of the one in the 
[1:31:00]
Bark tower.  It’s a beautiful thing.  The trouble is most people can’t get up there to see it.  It’s a long way up.
Ray Ann Cramer:
So what tower?

Dr. Peyton Rhodes:
This tower.

Ray Ann Cramer:
No; you said except for.

Dr. Peyton Rhodes:
Bark down in Florida in Mark Gardens.  It’s at Winter Haven –

Peggy Jameson:
Yeah; right; Winter Haven.  

Dr. Peyton Rhodes:
I think it’s a _______.  Mr. Halliburton didn’t want a ________.  It’s very exciting day the bell was lowered into place.  I’m messin’ ya’ up.  

Peggy Jameson:
And what happened then?

Dr. Peyton Rhodes:
Well, to see a six or seven ton bell put way up in the air and dropped through a little opening.  It cleared about that much and set ‘em gently into the place prepared for it is exciting.

Peggy Jameson:
That is exciting.

[1:32:00]
Dr. Peyton Rhodes:
The bell’s about seven feet high.  That’s an interesting story, too.  Better not start over.  

[End of Audio]
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